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/ UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
BROOKLYN OFFICE
Plaintiff,
: 237
NEW YORK METROPOLITAN 4 2 i

TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY,

and

NEW YORK CITY TRANSIT AUTHORITY, TOWN E S y J .
Defendants.
GHREIN, J.

COMPTLAINT

Plaintiff, United States of Amcrica {“United States™), alleges:

1. This action is brought on behalf of the United States to enforce the provisions of
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000, et seq. (“Title VII”).

2. This Court has jurisdiction of this action under 42 U.8.C. § 2000e-6(b), 28 US.C.
§ 1343(a)(3} and 28 U.S.C. § 1345,

3. Defendants, New York Metropolitan Transportation Authority (“MTA”) and Now
York City Transit Authority ("NYCTA”), ate puhli(;, benefit corporations ¢reated pursuant to the
laws of the State of New York.

4, Defendants are “persons” within the meaning of 42 U.8.C. § 2000e(a} and

“employers” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(b).




5 Defendants employ, among other individuals, bus and subway frain operators,
responsible for transporting individnals thronghout the New Yorl City metropolitan area.

6. Defendants are responsible for establishing the terms, conditions, policies and
practices that bear upon the employment of their cmployees.

7. Prior to 2002, Defendants failed or refused 1o consistently enforce uniform
policies for bus and subway train operators, which provided, infer afia, either that MTA hats
were eplional or ;Ehat non-MTA hats were prohibited. Upon information and belicf, Defendants
condened the wearing of non-MTA hats in some ingtances.

3. Since March 2002, Defendants have selectively enforced uniform policies to
target Muslim and Sikh employees whose sincerely held religions beliefs and practices require
that they wear religious head coverings. Thesc religious practices conflict with Defendants’
uniform policies. As a yesult of Defendants’ diseriminatory application and enforeement of these
vniform pelicies, Muslim, Sikh and similarly situated employees have suffered adverse
employment actions.

9. Defendants also have failed or refused to reasonably accommodate the sincerely
held religious beliefs and practices of Muslim, Sikh and similarly situated employees.

10.  Defendants discriminated against Malikah Alkebulan, a bus eperator and member
of the Muslim faith, because of rcligion when she refused to comply with uniform policies based
on her sincerely held religious beliefs and was, among other things, involuntarily transferred to a
position shifting buses with no passenger intcraction and diminished benefits.

11,  Defendants diseriminated against Deirdre Small, a bus operator and member of

the Muslim faith, because of religion when she refused to comply with uniform policies based on




her sincerely held religious beliefs and was, among other things, involuntarily transferred to a
position shifting buses with no passenger interaction and diminished benefits.

12, Defendants discriminated against Gladys Muhammad, a bus operator and member
of the Muslim faith, because of religion when she refused to comply with uniform policies based
on her sincercly held religious beliefs and was, among other things, involuntarily transferred to a
position shifling buses with no passenger interaction and diminished benefiis.

13, Defendants discriminated against Stephanie Lewis, a bus operator and member of
the Muslim faith, because of religion when she refused to comply with uniform policies based on
her sincerely held religious beliefs and was, among other things, involuntarily transferred to a
position shifling buses with no passenger intcraction and diminished benefits.

14.  Defendants discriminated against Kevin Harrington, a subway train operator and
member of the Sikh faith, beeause of religion when he refused to comply with uniform policies
based on his sincerely held religious beliefs and was, among other things, involuntarily
transferred to a job shifting subway trains with no passenger intcraction and diminished benefits.

15, Defendants have pursued and continue to pursue policies and practices that
diseriminate against employees on the basis of religion, in violation of Section 707 of Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.8.C. § 2000e-6, among other ways, by:

A Selectively enforcing uniform policies and taking adverse employment
actions against Muslim, Sikh and similarly situated employces who are
unable to comply with nniform policies for religious reasons;

B. Failing or refusing to reasonably accommodate Muslim, Sikh and similarly

situated employees who, in accordance with their religious beliefs and

practices, are imable to comply with uniform policies; and




C. Failing or refusing to take appropriate action to eliminate the
digcriminatory policics and practices and to remedy the effects of those
policies and practices.

16.  The policies and practices of Defendants described in paragraphs 7 through 15
above constifute a paitern or practicc of resistance to the full enjoyment by Muslim, Sikh and
similarly situated cﬁp]oyees of their rights to equal employment opperiunities without
discrimination based on religion, in violation of Section 707 of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act
of 1964, as amended, 42 U.8.C. § 2000¢-6. This pattern or practice is of such a nature and is
intended to deny the full exercise of the rights secured by Title VIL. Unless enjoined by Otder of
this Court, Defendants will continue to pursue policies and practices that are the same as or
similar to those alleged in this Complaint.

17 Inaccordance with Section 707 of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, g5
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-6, the United Statcs, through the Department of Justice, has
investigated the employment practices of Defendants, has notified them of the investigation and
the policies and practices described in paragraphs 7 through 15 above, and has unsuccessfully
aftempied to resolve this matter through negatiaﬁmn.

18, All conditions precedent to the filing of this suit have becn satisfied.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff United States prays for an Order enjoining Defendants, (heir
officers, agents, employees, successors and ail persons in active concert or participation with
them, from engaging in discriminatory employment policies and practices against Muslim, Sikh
and similarly situated employees based on religion, and specifically from fatling or refusing to:

A Enforce uniform policies in a way that provides equal employment

apportunities and reasonable accommodations to all Muslim, Sikh and similaﬂy siluated




employees who are unable to comply with uniform policies due to their religious beliefs and

practices;

B. Adopt a policy designed to provide reasonable accemmodations to
Muslim, Sikh and similarly situated employess who arc unable to comply with uniform policies
due to their religicus beliefs and practices;

C. Provide reasonable accommeodations to Muslim, Sikh and similarly
situaled employees who are unable to comply with uniform policies due to their religious beliefs
and practices;

D. Provide make whole relief, including but not limited to back pay with
interest and other employment benefits, to Muslint, Sikh and similarly situated current and
former employees who have suffered loss or will suffer loss as a result of the discrimimatory
policies and practices alleged in this Complaint; and

E. Take such other steps as may be necessary to prevent and to remedy
employment discrimination and the patiern or practice of discrimination in cmployment
identified above, |

Plaintiff United States prays for such forther relief as the Court may deem just,

together with its cosls and disbursements in this action.




JURY DEMAND
Plaintiff United States hercby demands a trial by jury of alf issues so triable pursuant to
Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Scction 102 of the Civil Rights Act of 1997,

42US.C. § 1981a.

JOHN D, ASHCROFT
Aftorncy General

R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA
Assistant Attorney General
Civil Rights Division
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DAVID j. PALMER (Dmsig) (D.C. Bar No. 417834)
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JOHN M. GADZICHOWSKI (YG6605) (Wisc. Bar No.
1014294}

Deputy Chief

DIANA EMBREY (DE3048) (13.C. Bar No. 457470)
LOUIS LOPEZ (D.C. Bar No, 461662)

SHAARTK H. ZAFAR (SZ8670) (Tex. Bar No.
24028248)

Trizl Attorncys

U.S. Department of Justice

Civil Rights Division

Employmeni Litigation Section

930 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW.

Pairick Henry Building, Room 4918

Washington, D.C. 20530

Telephone; (202) 353-2510

Facsimile: {202) 514-1105

Attormeys for Plaintiff United Siates of America
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WAIVER OF SERVICE OF SUMMONS

0. Diana Embrey (U.$. Department of Justice} L
TD : . (U (HAME OF Fmﬁi:ﬂﬁlﬂi‘f CE UNREFAESENTED FLATNTIFF)

1, Richard Schoolman Eée‘w York a'ty Transit Authority) | acknowledge receipt of your request
o

(Qﬁ ANT NAKE)
. ] , U.8, Dept. of Justice v, NY Mstropolitan
that 1 waive service of summons in the action of e T Tathority,
in the United States Distriet Court et. al.,

which {3 case pumber

ORI FrHweR
for tae District of Now York (EINY)

I have atso received a copy of the cormplaint in the action, two copics of this instrument, and a maans
by which I can return the signed waiver to you without cost 1o me.

rvice of & summons and an additional copy of the cun!p}amt in this
¢ entity on whose behalf I am acting) be served with judicial process

I agree to save the cost of &
lawsuit by pot requiring that [ {or th
in the mamner provided by Rule 4.

1 (ot the entity on whase hehalf T am acting) will retain all defenses or ohjections to the lawsuit or to t%:e
jurisdiction or venue of the court except for ebjections based on a defect in the summons or in the service

of the summons.
] understand that & judgment may be entered against me (or the party an whose behalf I am acting)

i ' { ithi Sept. 29, 2004
if an answer or rolion under Rule 12 {5 not served upon you within 60 days afier L AL,

or within 90 days after that date if the request was sent outside the United States.
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i ﬂw HoaNFTRATE CEPENBANT)

Duty to Avold unneeessary Costs of Serviee of Summons

Rule 4 of the Frderad Rules of Civil Frocodure requires cenain mes 10 caopesa’s in JAving unncecisary oot f gervice of the summong
and cormphgint. A Aofendant |scsred in the Unitd Staics whe, ofter being natificd of n setics and nakeed 3y & plainaifT locaeed in thie Unled Seascs
18 waive Teviee of ummons, Falleno do o Wil be prauired 1o beas (e cont of sich servies unle i goad s be thown bt b drlre to 2ipm aed peramm e wWiLver,

%{ ¥, o4 ordand mef

Tt is mot poad pause far 3 Rl b waive service that & Uy belicver that the egmplaint fx gnfoyadad, or hal the ackon b been Brought
in wn improper plece or in & court that laeks jurisdlelion aver the syhjrct matter of the Action of GUGF (5 PEFSSR ar propetty. A paty
wh whives serviee of the swmanore rallbs 2l Sefenies and abjections (SXcept imy reloling 10 the LUMmens or 19 the senvica of the gummens),
wrd may lanar ebject 1o the jurisdicninn of the coun oc to the pliss whers i 3¢tian has been bradght,

A dedondant whe woavel torvdee must within te ume apegified on the webicr farm serve on te plaindiffs anomay (or wedpresenied plaiatl M)
a peipenss 1o the comploint and must wlae file 2 digned copy af the rtyzonre wich the cour, i Wio coxwer or moten 15 nat serwed within this Gme,
1 defadt judgment may be Wien ogaing: thit defesdans. By waiving sorviee, 8 defsngant i allowed mon tme 9 answer than if the swmmans hed
been Lemnlly servod when e fequsat for waiver af servioe was moeived

Thia oot wonl eibctreaigadr o oaced by Juay ki Wiing SMplform.
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